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[1] This is an application by the Director of Public Prosecutions (DPP) for judicial 

review of the decision of the Senior Resident Magistrate’s (RM) not to set aside a 

subpoena issued by the defence for her to attend court as a witness (for the defence) 

on the April 19, 2011 and to remain out of court during the testimony of Mr Chin, the 

Crown’s principal witness.  The DPP seeks the following orders: 

(a)  A declaration that the issuing of the subpoena dated 12th day of 

April, 2011, by the Clerk of Courts for the Resident Magistrate’s 

Court for the Corporate Area at the instance of the accused, 



Coleen Wright to Paula Llewellyn, the Director of Public 

Prosecutions, and returnable on the 19th day of April, 2011, in the 

Resident Magistrate’s Court is an abuse of the process of the 

Court. 

 

(b) An order of certiorari to quash the decision of the Senior Resident 

Magistrate for the Corporate Area refusing to set aside the 

subpoena dated the 12th April, 2011 and issued by the Clerk of 

Courts for the Resident Magistrate’s Court for the Corporate Area 

to Paula Llewellyn, the Director of Public Prosecutions, and 

returnable on the 19th of April, 2011 in the Resident Magistrate’s 

Court for the Corporate Area. 

 

(c) An order of certiorari to quash the subpoena. 

 

(d) An order of certiorari to quash the order of the Senior Resident 

Magistrate for the Corporate Area that Paula Llewellyn, the 

Director of Public Prosecutions, should remain out of hearing for 

the remainder of the testimony of the witness, Rodney Chin.  

[2] The grounds advanced in support of the reliefs sought were: 

Illegality 

1. The Magistrate failed to take into account relevant considerations, namely, 

that: 

 

(a) The relevant evidence which the defence is seeking to 

elicit from the Director of Public Prosecutions as a witness 

can be obtained from other witnesses who are competent 

and compellable, who are available and are willing to 

attend to testify and for whom subpoenas were issued. 

 

(b) The reasons for discontinuing criminal proceedings against 

Rodney Chin is the only evidence that other witnesses are 

unable to give, but the Director of Public Prosecutions is 

not obliged to disclose the reasons for the exercise of her 

discretion under Section 94 of the Constitution of Jamaica. 

 

(c) The Director of Public Prosecutions could not continue to 

officiate as a prosecutor in trial proceedings in which she 

has been called as a witness for the defence. 



(d) If the Director of Public Prosecutions were to continue as 

prosecutor in trial proceedings in which she has been 

called as a witness for the defence it would render the trial 

process unfair and constitute an infringement of the rules 

of natural justice. 

 

(e) The issuing of the subpoena is oppressive and an abuse of 

the process of the court. 

 

2. The Magistrate’s decision not to set aside the subpoena requiring Paula 

Llewellyn, the Director of Public Prosecutions, to participate in the trial of 

R v Kern Spencer and Coleen Wright as a witness before the Senior 

Magistrate, is tainted with illegality in that the Magistrate exceeded her 

statutory powers by assuming the role of a review tribunal and 

pronounced upon the manner of the exercise of a constitutionally vested 

prosecutorial discretion by the Director of Public Prosecutions, to 

discontinue the criminal proceedings against Rodney Chin and to call him 

as a witness for the prosecution. The object of the issuing of the subpoena 

to compel the Director of Public Prosecutions to attend as a witness for 

the accused in a matter in which she is the prosecutor and in 

circumstances, in which other witnesses are available and willing to attend 

to testify regarding the same issues, was not bona fide to obtain relevant 

evidence.  The issuing of the subpoena was an abuse of the process of 

the court and was therefore unlawful, ultra vires and void. 

 

3. In refusing to set aside the subpoena the Magistrate misinterpreted the 

law and failed to have regard to her power, as sitting Magistrate, to 

prevent an abuse of the process of the court.     

 

4. The subpoena was issued at the instance of the accused for an improper 

or ulterior purpose. 

Irrationality 

The Magistrate’s decision in refusing to set aside the subpoena on the facts and in the 

circumstances of the case is ‘Wednesbury’ unreasonableness. 

 

 

 

 



PROCEDURAL IRREGULARITY/IMPROPRIETY  

[3] The Magistrate acted unlawfully and in excess of her jurisdiction when she failed 

to give any or any adequate reasons for her decision to refuse to set aside the 

subpoena. 

1. No alternative form of redress is available to the applicant. 

 

2. To the knowledge of the applicant, other than binding her over as a 

witness, the Senior Resident Magistrate has not given any further 

consideration to the matters in question in response to the applicant’s 

objection to being ordered to keep out of hearing for the remainder of 

Rodney Chin’s testimony or the issue of the subpoena against her. 

 

3. The applicant is personally and directly affected by the decisions about 

which the complaint is made. 

 
 
[4] The applicant abandoned grounds 1a and 1b regarding the availability of other 

witnesses to give evidence which the DPP could give and concedes that if a subpoena 

is obtained in good faith for the eliciting of relevant evidence it could not be set aside 

merely on the ground that other witnesses are available. 

 

SUBMISSIONS BY LORD GIFFORD QC ON BEHALF OF THE DPP 

Mala fide motive for the issuance of the subpoena 

[5] At the heart of the complaint is that the subpoena was issued for an improper or 

ulterior purpose or purposes.  It was not sought for the bona fide purpose of obtaining 

relevant evidence.   Its issuance amounts to an abuse of the process of the Court. 

According to Lord Gifford, the purpose of the subpoena, as revealed from the words of 

the defendants’ counsel, is to embark on a fishing expedition in order to seek support 

for baseless allegations of misconduct and corruption on the part of the DPP.   Further, 

it is their intention to embarrass and weaken the prosecution by removing the DPP from 

her role as lead prosecutor. 

 



[6] Lord Gifford contends further that the intent and/or the consequence of requiring 

the DPP’s testimony is that she will be exposed directly or indirectly to questions about 

the reasons for her decision to discontinue the prosecution of Mr. Chin, thus 

undermining her independence which the Constitution guarantees. 

 
[7] Lord Gifford submits that the following statements of defence counsel KD Knight 

QC and Patrick Atkinson QC, which were made in opposition to the DPP’s application 

before the RM to set aside the subpoena duces tecum,   make   plain the motive for the 

issuance of the subpoena. 

 
[8] KD Knight QC, (RM notes pages 28-29):  

“Without rehearsing the past, the court will recall that submissions were 
made on prosecutorial misconduct. The defence said the misconduct led 
to Mr. Chin becoming the chief witness for the prosecution. Beyond the 
issue of whether or not Mr. Chin is an accomplice is the issue as to 
whether the evidence was corruptly obtained. That determination is 
necessary having regard to the whole tenure of Chin’s evidence and an 
important aspect as to whether or not it was corruptly obtained or not 
relates to the emersion of the DPP in the investigative process.” 

 

At page 29: 

“Having perused the various bits of disclosure coming from the DPP – the 
view has been formed and the decision has been made that the DPP can 
assist in the fairness of the trial because with respect, prosecutorial 
misconduct does not cease at the end of the Crown’s case it carries 
through to the end of the trial. And as we have already submitted, that 
depending on the gravity of the prosecutorial misconduct there can be 
denial of a fair trial- a matter which a trial judge takes into account at 
various stages and including at the completion of the trial.” 

 
At page 34 Mr Atkinson QC, said: 

“Even though it is Knight who applied, depending on how she answers she 
can be treated as hostile. I intend to cross examine her and for this court 
to see her demeanour etc. and decide what it makes of it… In this case 
the defence is saying Chin is there to save his skin and his opportunity to 
earn billions of dollars.” 

 
[9] Lord Gifford submits that the allegations against the DPP and the questioning of 

her integrity and honesty are baseless.  The interviewing of a potential witness for the 



Crown, in the presence of his attorney-at-law, is a proper element in the due diligence 

process which may lead to a decision only the DPP can make: whether to continue the 

prosecution.  

 

[10] Mr. Chin’s evidence is that no inducements were offered to him or any promise 

made.  The DPP gave full disclosure of her recollection of the interview.  

 
[11] The intent is to denigrate the DPP in the witness box and impugn her integrity in 

the absence of evidence.  It is not the intention to discover the details of the interview 

but to build a platform on which allegations of corruption can be thrown at the DPP. If 

she refutes the allegations she can be deemed hostile.  Even if she is not questioned 

about corruption and misconduct, the intention is to embarrass the DPP and divert the 

fair trial of the charges against the Defendants. 

 
[12] Also, the intent is that although called on behalf of one defendant she will be 

subject to cross-examination by the other defendant.  He further submits that, the 

intention is to put to her that she was a party to a corrupt arrangement whereby Mr. 

Chin was bribed to give evidence by promise of Government contracts.  

 
 

NO RELEVANT EVIDENCE 

[13] He further submits that the DPP is unable to provide any relevant evidence. 

There is no evidence of contradiction in Mr. Chin’s evidence and his later statements. 

The DPP asserts that she was consistent.  The DPP is therefore unable to assist in that 

regard as she found him to be credible.  The DPP cannot provide in examination- in- 

chief any material which can assist the defence. The objective is to subject her to 

speculative and oppressive cross-examination. He relies on the cases of R v Baines 

[1908-10] All ER 328 and Senior v Holdsworth [1975] 2 All ER 1009.  

 

SUBMISSIONS BY MRS. JACQUELINE SAMUELS-BROWN QC 
 

[14] Mrs. Jacqueline Samuels-Brown QC submits that except for statutory exceptions 

which are not applicable to the instant case, all persons to a probability, who can 



assist the court with relevant evidence, are susceptible to being called as witnesses. 

The notes of evidence as well as the DPP’s affidavit which are relevant material to the 

trial process provide assistance. 

 
[15] Strong language of a particular advocate cannot be allowed to obfuscate the real 

issues of fairness with which the presiding Judge has to grapple. It is clear on the 

evidence before the court, that defence counsel wish to pursue issues of credibility and 

motive.  There is also concern as to the loss of evidence as a result of the delay in 

disclosure.  

 
[16]  The learned Resident Magistrate’s refusal to set aside the subpoena cannot be 

viewed in isolation from her written ruling in relation to the application for disclosure.  On 

a reading of her ruling, the learned Resident Magistrate judiciously and with judicial 

propriety embarked upon the balancing act required of her.   

 

[17] There are significant features of the proceedings before the RM which are 

relevant: 

    

(a) The prosecution seems to have proceeded on the basis that its duty is 

limited to material in its possession. 

  

(b) Apparently the DPP does not recognize that the responsibility for 

disclosure rests primarily on the Governmental authority and not the lay 

person or private attorney. 

 

(c) Disclosure in this case was incremental and in stages. 

 

(d) Examination of Rodney Chin revealed that: 

 

i) the DPP met with Mr. Chin; 

ii) meeting lasted forty-five minutes; 

iii) the DPP gathered material relevant to Mr. Chin’s evidence in the 

course of what was revealed to be an interview; 

iv) At that stage the DPP asserted that Mr. Chin assumed she was 

taking notes but there were no such notes. 

 



(e) Further to the order of the RM for disclosure, the DPP, by  way of letter 

dated 19 April 2011, stated: 

 

i) There was in fact a meeting. 

ii) At the meeting she was already au fait with Mr. Chin’s 

statement and asked him questions relative to the truth of that 

statement. 

iii) She spoke to him relative “to all information in his statement.”  

iv) She “did not make any notes of the interview.” 

v) She was vague or unspecific and/noncommittal about the date of the 

conversation with Mr. Chin’s attorney.  

vi) She was unspecific about the date of the interview meeting with Mr. 

Chin. 

(f) Her letter of 7 October 2010 varied somewhat and was further incremental 

in disclosing:  

i) The DPP did not see any statement by Mr. Chin before the meeting. 
ii) For the first time she adverts substantially to what transpired in terms 

of subject matter relative to the narrative that was covered but states  
that it is as far as she can recall.  

 
 

THE DPP’S RELUCTANCE TO DISCLOSE 

[18] Mrs. Samuels-Brown QC complains that the DPP’s disclosure was incremental. 

In her letter dated 8 January 2009 she (DPP) stated, “We can only serve documents we 

have in our possession.” 

In her letter of 20 January 2009 she advised Mr. Atkinson as follows: 

 “If there are any further requests of a nature outlined in your 
correspondence relating to Mr. Chin, I would advise that they be 
redirected to his attorney, Mr. Small.”  

 
[19] The DPP failed to disclose her meeting with Mr. Chin, Mr. Chin’s attorneys and 

certain prosecution witnesses.  Upon request by the defence for disclosure, she failed to 

disclose the meeting in spite of the request for disclosure.  She did not specify what 

material was in her possession nor did she reveal the date she was approached.   

 



[20] In responding to the Resident Magistrate’s directive to disclose, the DPP, by way 

of letter dated 19 April 2009 disclosed the fact of a meeting but failed to provide the 

Court with the specific date of the conversation with Mr. Chin’s attorney.  In that letter 

she stated that she was conversant with the contents of the statement and her 

questions pertained to her ascertaining the truth of his statement.  She stated also that 

she spoke to him regarding “All the information in the statement,” and stated that she 

did not take any notes of the interview.  

 
[21] Some months later, by letter dated 7 October 2010, she acknowledged that 

elucidation of the material disclosed in her letter of 19 April 2010 would be useful.    

Consequently, she provided further information. It is to be noted that further 

information was provided after the request for disclosure was made and after the 

announcement that Mr. Chin had become a co-operating witness.   However, she again 

expressed that the passage of time had affected her ability to recall.  

  

 [22]   She stated that she was not provided with any statement before the meeting with 

Mr. Chin.   She stated that Mr. Chin narrated how his involvement with the accused 

persons came about.   He repeatedly emphasized that he was speaking the truth and 

that no one offered him any reward or promise.   She stated that she repeatedly asked 

him questions which included whether he was speaking the truth.    She provided 

statements from Ms. Smith, Superintendent Fitz Bailey and Detective Inspector Carl 

Berry.  This letter was written in compliance with the court’s directives. 

That statement was repeated by her before the Magistrate in her response to defence 

counsel’s application for disclosure. 

 

RESIDENT MAGISTRATE’S REASONS 

[23] The Resident Magistrate’s refusal to set aside the subpoena cannot be viewed in 

isolation from her written ruling regarding the application for disclosure.   At the point the 

application to set aside the subpoena was made, the RM was aware of the following: 

i) The DPP had initially declined to provide disclosure of the interview 

despite requests from the defence. 



ii) She first stated that she spoke to the witness after he had given the 

statement. 

iii) She later made a correction to the effect that prior to speaking to him no 

statement had been collected. 

iv) She said that she took no notes during the interview while Mr. Chin 

testified that he saw her write. 

v) Her stance was that she had no duty to reveal any notes 

vi) In her purported compliance with the court’s directive, she indicated 

difficulty remembering details. 

vii) She considered that she was entitled to withhold disclosure in the public 

interest and/or in keeping with her Constitutional position. 

viii) She considered it her purview to decide on the extent of disclosure. 

ix) She considered that the notes taken at the meeting were her private 

notes. 

x) She conducted her interview of the potential witness in the presence of 

other witnesses in the case. 

xi) She did not consider that she was obliged to disclose plea 

negotiations/agreement with the co-accused to the defence. 

xii) Delay between the DPP’s interview with the co-accused, her decision to 

call him as a witness and when the nolle prosequi was entered. 

xiii) Delay between 22 December 2008 when the DPP informed the defence 

that Mr. Chin was to be a prosecution witness and partial disclosure was 

afforded in April 2010. 

xiv) There is a conflict or at least a difference in the account given by the co-

operating witness via his testimony and that provided by the DPP via her 

submissions and disclosure as revealed to the Judge. 

xv) The probability of loss of evidence as a consequence of the delay in 

disclosure. 

 

[24] Further, a co-operating witness is a person with an interest of his own to serve 

and the tribunal of fact must warn itself before accepting such a witness’ evidence. The 

circumstances in which he came to co-operate are relevant in assessing credibility or 

reliability.  There is evidence of Mr. Chin receiving monetary gains from the State after 

becoming a cooperating witness.   Even in cases where there has been no benefit or 

inducement, the discussions, for example, whether demands were made or concerns 

expressed, may impact on credibility and are therefore relevant. As the defence had 

indicated, that was one of the reasons it desired disclosure.  The witness also gave a 



multiplicity of statements which raises issues of credibility to be considered as a matter 

of law.  This was expressed by both KD Knight QC and Patrick Atkinson QC.  The 

defence also raised issues pertinent to abuse of process which included the delay and 

accompanying dulled memory.  

 
[25] There is a sacred rule that in order to preserve the integrity of the investigative 

process, the dichotomy between the roles of counsel and the investigator should be 

preserved.  When there is blurring of the lines, however unintentional or however noble 

the motive, the counsel who has taken on the investigative role becomes susceptible to 

being called as a witness.  On the DPP’s own admission she had two purposes in 

carrying out the interview with Mr. Chin.  One was information gathering and the other, 

the exercise of her constitutional powers.  

 

[26] It is therefore inappropriate and misleading to assert that the only purpose of the 

subpoena to be gleaned from the record is the embarrassment of the DPP.  On the 

evidence, the DPP was in contact with Mr. Chin. She personally interviewed him by 

repeatedly questioning him about his written statement to the police. That exercise 

related to the credibility of the witness.   The exercise raises the issue of his motive for 

giving evidence.  There is lack of knowledge as to how many statements he gave before 

he spoke to the DPP.  

 
[27] The credibility of the witness is a live issue in the case.   Improper motive on the 

part of the witness would have provided him with an opportunity to refresh his memory, 

regardless of the DPP’s intention. In the circumstances, the evidence of the DPP is 

prima facie materially relevant.   For example, on the issue of credibility, even though a 

witness’ answers as to credibility are final, the other party still has a right to confront him 

with inconsistent statements or give him an opportunity to retract by way of 

contradictory evidence.  In support of this proposition, Mrs. Samuels- Brown relies on R 

v Milton (1996) 46 WIR 306. 

 
[28] In assessing these matters the Resident Magistrate carries out a delicate 

balancing exercise.  In the instant case, in deciding whether to set aside the subpoena, 



the Resident Magistrate had to be mindful of the principles relative to the prosecution’s 

duty of disclosure. The principles extracted from R v Ward (1993) 1 WLR 619, are 

applicable.  The cases make it clear that even material damaging to the defence ought 

to be disclosed and that duty is not confined to any particular branch of prosecution but 

to the prosecutorial authorities. 

 

Whether DPP can move Court for judicial Review  

[29] Mrs. Samuels-Brown also postulates that an order for Certiorari redounds 

exclusively in public law.  The pleadings having been filed in the claimant’s capacity as 

DPP, relates to the exercise of her Constitutional powers as a member of the Executive. 

Public law remedies are therefore not available to her as such remedies are reserved 

for private citizens.  It is her contention that public law regulates the affairs of subjects 

vis-à-vis public authorities.  She relies on the statement of Lord Denning MR which was 

quoted by Rowe P in Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Trade and Industry v Vehicle and 

Supplies Ltd. and Anor [1989] 39 WIR 270.  She submits that her position is, in the 

circumstances, distinguishable from a private citizen who is able to institute private 

prosecution.   

 

[30] Lord Gifford however relies on Rule 56.2 of the CPR which on the face of it 

entitles any person, group or body with sufficient interest, who has been adversely 

affected to apply for Judicial Review. He cites and relies on the English cases of R (On 

the application of the DPP) v Havering Magistrates Court [2001] 3 All ER 997, R 

(On the application of the DPP) v East Surrey Youth Court [2004] 4 All ER 699, R 

(On the application of the DPP)  v Redbridge Youth Court [2001] 4 All ER 411, R 

(On the application of the DPP) v Camberwell Youth Court [2004] 4 All ER 699 and 

R (On the application of the DPP) v North & East Hertfordshire Justices [2008] 

EWHC 103  in which the DPP sought Judicial Review to quash decisions of the court.   

He also relies on the Supreme Court Act 1981.  

 

 

 



DECISION 

DOES THE DPP HAVE THE REQUISITE STANDING? 

[31] In Ministry of Foreign Affairs v Vehicles and Supplies Ltd, by virtue of the 

Motor Vehicle (Sale and Distribution) Order 1985, which was promulgated by the 

Minister of Foreign Affairs, certain motor cars could only be imported into the Island by 

JCTC, which was a government- owned company.  JCTC collected payment from and 

delivered vehicles to the dealer.  Vehicles and Supplies was dissatisfied with the 

allocation of vehicles and sought prerogative orders inter alia in relation to the 

allocation.  The Minister, who was served with the orders, applied to have them set 

aside on the ground that the Attorney General was the proper party.   

 
[32] The unanimous finding of the Court of Appeal, with which the Privy Council 

concurred, was that the proceedings were not ‘civil proceedings’ within sections 13 and 

18 of the Crown Proceedings Act 1959.  The result was that the Minister and not the 

Attorney-General was the proper party to proceedings ‘reviewing the exercise of his 

statutory powers.’   

 

[33] In the instant case, the DPP is seeking a review of the Senior Resident 

Magistrate’s decision not to quash the subpoena. The action therefore falls under the 

Crown side, and is not ‘civil proceedings’.    

 

[34] Section 2 (2) Crown Proceedings Act states: 

“…civil proceedings” do not include proceedings which in England would 
be taken on the Crown side of the Queen’s Bench Division…officer, in 
relation to the Crown, includes any servant of her Majesty, and 
accordingly ( but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing 
provision) includes a Minister of the Crown.  

 
Section 13 provides that ‘civil proceedings’ against the Crown must be instituted against 

the Attorney-General.  

 
 [35] In Ministry of Foreign Affairs v Vehicles and Supplies, Rowe P, traced the 

history and development of the prerogative remedies of mandamus, prohibition and 



certiorari and opined that they were clearly remedies to which the subject was not 

entitled as of right, but only at the discretion of the court.  He relied on the work of 

Professor  de Smith, Judicial Review of Administrative Action, and Lord Denning’s 

speech in O’Reilly v Mackman [1982] 3 All ER 680.  

 
[36]  Professor de Smith at Chapter 8 page 269 said: 

“Certiorari had other good qualifications for membership of a prerogative 
group of writs: e.g. it had originated as the King’s personal command for 
information; it was often used to remove indictment into the King’s Bench, 
and upon their removal the King would proceed to prosecute in his own 
court; it was a writ of grace for the subject.  Mandamus, too was a writ of 
grace; it alleged a contempt of the Crown consisting in the neglect of a 
public duty; it was at once of high governmental importance and a 
valuable remedy of last resort for the subject.  All four writs were awarded 
primarily by the Court of King’s Bench, a court which had always 
performed quasi-governmental functions and which was historically the 
court held coram ipso rege.  In short, all four writs could be described, by 
those who were so minded, as the King’s prerogative writs.  The King 
could be conceived as superintending the due course of justice and 
administering through the medium of his own court:  as prosecuting 
indictments, preventing usurpation of jurisdiction and upholding public 
rights and the personal freedom of his subjects.” 

 
[37] At page 690, in O’Reilly v Mackman, speaking of the prerogative writs, Lord 

Denning MR said: 

“It was for the King to call on a Judge of an inferior court and ask him to 
account for his actions.  The King did it by the prerogative writ of certiorari 
… The very words ‘prerogative writ’ show that it was issued by the royal 
authority of the King.  No subject could issue it on its own.  He had no right 
to issue it as of course, as he could for trespass or trover.  All that the 
subject could do was to inform the King’s Judges of the complaint. He 
could not tell them about the unjust Judge of any inferior court. The King’s 
Judges would then authorize the issue of the writ in the King’s name.”  

 
[38] Rowe P observed that Lord Denning MR said in the same case that in modern 

law certiorari was also available   against a public authority.  

 
[39] The following statement of Lord Denning in the said case has sparked the 

controversy in this case.   It is Mrs Samuels-Brown’s view that the words “Public law 

regulates the affairs of the subject vis-à-vis public authorities” make it pellucid that the 



public law remedy of certiorari is not available to the DPP, she (herself) being a public 

authority: 

“In modern times, we have come to recognize two separate fields of law; 
one of private law, the other of public law. Private law regulates the affairs 
of the subject as between themselves. Public law regulates the affairs of 
the subject vis-à-vis public authorities. For centuries there were special 
remedies available in public law.  They were the prerogative writ of 
certiorari, mandamus and prohibition.  As I have shown, they were taken 
in the name of the Sovereign against a public authority which had failed to 
perform its duty to the public at large or had performed it wrongfully.  Any 
subject could complain to the Sovereign; and then the King’s Court at their 
discretion, would give him leave to issue such one of the prerogative writ 
as was appropriate to meet his case.  But these writs, as their names 
show, only gave the remedies of quashing, commanding or prohibiting; 
they did not enable a subject to recover damages against a public 
authority nor a declaration nor an injunction.” 

 
[40] The learned President also examined the work of the learned authors Short and 

Mellor. They expressed the view that although there were radical procedural changes in 

ordinary actions, the Crown side of the King’s Bench Division remains an exceptional 

procedure, governed by its own rules and dealing with ‘its appropriate subject matter’.  

The authors pointed out that in spite of the changes on the plea side of the Court of 

King’s Bench the jurisdiction on the Crown side is preserved intact. Rowe P pointed out 

that the Jamaican Crown Proceedings Act 1959 was substantially similar to the English 

Crown Proceedings Act. 

 
[41]  In light of the relatively strict adherence by the Crown side, (under which this 

matter falls), to its original procedure and rules and Lord Denning’s MR pronouncement, 

Prima facie, there is logic to Mrs Samuels-Brown’s contention.  

 
[42] Section 94 of the Constitution regards the office of the DPP as a public office.  

She is therefore a public officer.  If Public law regulates the affairs of subjects vis-à-vis 

public authorities and if Mrs Samuel-Brown is correct, it would follow that the DPP, 

being a public authority, is not permitted by law to institute proceedings under the 

Crown side.  

 



[43] Mrs Samuels-Brown QC submits that she is. She contends that the office of DPP 

is a special species created by the Constitution. The DPP is an arm of government 

which falls within the category of the Executive. Consequently, she has no standing to 

move the court for Judicial Review as in so doing it would be tantamount to Caesar 

appealing to Caesar.  According to Mrs Samuels-Brown, the English DPP does not 

enjoy the same status and is therefore able to move the court for Judicial Review.  

 

[44] Section 94 (6) of the Jamaican Constitution provides that the DPP, in the 

exercise of the powers conferred upon her by the Constitution is not subject to the 

control or direction of any person or authority.  She is, in the exercise of her duties, 

independent.  

 

[45] Her English counterpart is different. The English Prosecution of Offences Act 

1985, provides for the establishment of a Crown Prosecution Service for England and 

Wales of which the DPP is the head.  The English DPP is not independent. Section 2 of 

the said Act provides that the DPP shall be appointed by the Attorney General.  He is 

subject to the control of the Attorney General.  By virtue of Section 9 of the said Act, the 

Director reports to the Attorney General.  The remuneration of the English DPP is 

determined by the Attorney General. 

 

IS THE DPP A MEMBER OF THE EXECUTIVE? 

 [46] Section 2(2)  of the Crown Proceedings Act states: 

“Officer” in relation to the Crown, includes any servant of her majesty, and 
accordingly (but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing 
provision) includes a Minister of the Crown.” 

     

 Section 2 (1) of the Public Service Regulations 1961 makes a distinction between a 

public officer, the Attorney General and members of the Judiciary. Both the Attorney 

General and the Judiciary are arms of Government albeit separate. 

 
[47] Mrs Samuel-Brown’s submission that the DPP is an arm of government, in 

particular, a member of the Executive is, unsustainable. Although the independence of 

the DPP is constitutionally protected, she is, like the English DPP, a public officer.  



Applications for Judicial Review have been made without objection, by the English DPP 

in the Court of Queen’s Bench.  

 

THE EFFECT OF RULE 56.2  

 [48] Section 81 of the Constitution states: 

31-(1) an application to the High Court for one or more of the following forms of 

relief, namely –  

  (a). an order of mandamus, a prohibition or certiorari;   

  (b). a declaration or injunction under subsection (2); or 

(c) an injunction  under Section 30 restraining a person not entitled to 

do so from acting in an office to which that section applies, shall be 

made  in accordance with the rules of court  by a procedure to be 

known as an application for Judicial Review. 

(2) a declaration may be made or an injunction granted under this 

subsection in any case where an application for Judicial Review, seeking 

that relief, has been made and the court considers that, having regard to 

–  

(a) the nature of the matters in respect of which relief may be granted 

by orders of mandamus, prohibition or certiorari; 

(b) the nature of the persons and bodies against whom may be 

granted by such orders; and  

(c )  all the circumstances of the cases, it would be just and convenient 

for the declaration to be made or the injunction to be granted,  as 

the case may be. 

(3) no application for judicial review shall be made unless the leave of the 

High Court has been obtained in accordance with Rules of Court; and 

the court shall not grant leave to make such an application unless it 

considers that the applicant has a sufficient interest in the matter to 

which the application relates. 

 



[49] By virtue of section 81 of the Constitution, the Rules (CPR) procedure involved in 

approaching the court is governed by the Civil Procedure).  

The existence of Judicial Review is assumed by the Constitution but the mechanics of 

its operation are rooted in the case law coming out of the Kings Bench Division and in 

the Crown Proceedings Act.  Part 56.2 of the CPR therefore derives its ‘jurisdictional 

basis’ from the Constitution, the Crown Proceedings Act and case law. 

 
[50] For clarity, it is necessary to state the Rule. Rule 56.2 provides: 

(1) An application for Judicial Review may be made by any person, group or 

body which has sufficient interest in the subject matter of the application. 

 
(2) This includes – 

a. any person who has been adversely affected by the 
decision which is the subject of the application; 
 

b. anybody or group at the request  of a person or persons 
who would be entitled to apply under paragraph (a); 
 

c. anybody or group that represents the views of its members 
who may have been adversely affected by the decision 
which is the subject of the application; 
 

d. any statutory body where the subject matters falls within its 
statutory remit; 
 

e. anybody or group that can show that the matter is of public 
interest and that the body or group possesses expertise in 
the subject matter of the application or; 
 

g. any other person or body who has a right to be heard 
under the terms of any relevant enactment or the 
Constitution. 
 

[51] Rule 52 (6) of the CPR, as worded, captures the DPP axiomatically as she has 

an interest in the matter.  Failure to comply with the subpoena, could affect her liberty.  

 
 
 
 
 



 HAS THE DPP AN ALTERNATE FORM OF REDRESS? 

[52]  De Smith, Woolf and Jowell in their work on Judicial Review of Administration 

Action fifth edition at para. 23-013 said: 

“Assuming the High Court has jurisdiction to hear an application for judicial 
review, unless there are good or “exceptional reasons for not appealing 
the Court will as a matter of discretion invariably refuse relief in judicial 
review proceedings if the point could have been just as satisfactorily 
disposed of by way of an appeal.”  

 

[53] If the matter could have proceeded by way of an appeal such proceeding would 

have been ‘civil proceedings’ within the Crown Proceedings Act. The Attorney General 

would then have been the proper party to the proceedings.  The Attorney General would 

have found himself in the invidious position of deciding whom to represent: the Senior 

RM or the DPP.   In such circumstances, he might have had to decline to act.   The 

dilemma which would have confronted the DPP could have provided the “good or 

exceptional reason.”  However, she has no right of appeal at this stage. 

    
[54] In any event, what is material and of grave importance is whether in these 

circumstances; the Magistrate has a right, if not a duty, to command the appearance of 

the DPP as a witness who can give material evidence on an issue or issues which she 

considers vital to the just disposal of the case before her. 

 
CAN THE DPP PROVIDE RELEVANT TESTIMONY OR IS THE PROCESS OF THE COURT 

BEING USED FOR IMPROPER MOTIVE?  
 

[55] The issue is whether   the issuance of the subpoena is mired in improper or 

ulterior purpose or purposes and is an abuse of the process of the court or whether it is 

bona fide. 

 
CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH IT WAS REVEALED THAT MR. CHIN WAS 

INTERVIEWED BY THE DPP 
 

The defence was informed at the start of the case that the Crown intended to offer no 

evidence against Mr. Chin. Subsequent to and in spite of the announcement by the DPP 

that Mr. Chin would become a Crown witness, he continued to be seated as an 



accused. The fact that he remained seated as an accused elicited enquiries from the 

defence.   

 

[56]    It is Mr. Chin’s evidence that based on the statement he gave, he was asked to 

be a witness for the prosecution.  He is not aware of any document which indicates that 

the charges have been dropped.  He was not shown any document called a nolle 

prosequi.  It was his understanding that once he gave the statement he became a 

potential witness (See page 154 of witnesses’ cross-examination by Mr. Atkinson). .  

According to him, he was not told that before he testified for the Crown, the charges had 

to be dropped.  At the time he gave his statement he did not know that the matters 

against him would be withdrawn.  

 

[57] He told the court that he asked the lawyer the meaning of nolle prosequi and they 

explained the difference between nolle prosequi and an indictment; however, he 

‘googled’ the meaning.  Two of the four charges were dropped and a nolle prosqui was 

entered for two.  From his consultation with ‘Google’ and from what he ‘heard” and what 

was “explained,’ he learnt that the two charges which were dropped could be brought 

back. 

 
[58] He testified that since his involvement in the case he received government 

contracts valued at approximately 12.7 million dollars.  Since the discontinuation of the 

matter against him, he successfully bid for between six to eight contracts including one 

from a foreign company which the Government of Jamaica assisted him in obtaining.  It 

is also his evidence that if he is convicted he will forfeit his ability to obtain government 

contracts.  

 
[59] The circumstances under which  Mr. Chin was transformed from the accused to 

the Crown’s ‘star witness’ has been challenged by the defence and is regarded as  

integral to the defence.  The defence’s mission is to discover whether any promise was 

made to Mr. Chin. Consequently, upon request by the defence for information regarding 

the circumstances which led to his changed status, the DPP responded by way of letter 

dated 8 January, 2009.  She informed that she was approached by Mr. Small who 



informed her that Mr. Chin wished to give evidence for the prosecution.  The nature of 

the evidence was outlined to her. She did due diligence with the police along with 

documents she had in her possession and decided that the interest of justice would be 

better served by accepting the offer.  

 

[60]     She did not disclose that she conducted an interview with Mr. Chin. The fact of 

the interview with the DPP was only revealed during the cross-examination of Mr. Chin 

by KD Knight QC. Under cross-examination by Patrick Atkinson QC, the revelation that 

the interview lasted thirty to forty-five minutes was made. 

 
[61] Strident language was indeed used by KD Knight QC and Patrick Atkinson QC, 

however, the reasons advanced in the statements cited by Lord Gifford were not the 

sole reasons. Both counsel proffered other reasons for requesting the subpoena.  

Credibility and motive are at the heart of the request.  Initially, the request for disclosure 

was not couched in such acidic language.  The DPP’s resistance to disclosure and the 

passage of time unfortunately seemed to have evoked strong language.  At page 33 

‘RMC1’ in the early days of the trial, Mr. KD Knight objected on the grounds of non-

disclosure, he said:  

“We were told that there is nothing further to disclose. The authorities 

established that disclosure relates to anything said or written by the 

prosecuting witness. The only thing to disclose was that Mr. Small 

telephoned the DPP and made an offer which she accepted after doing 

due diligence.”  

 

[62] At page 164, Patrick Atkinson said: 

“In evidence it was revealed that Mr. Chin had half an hour to forty five 
minutes interview with the DPP and notes were taken.” 

 
He continued: 

 
“Simply because a written record was not made at the time, is relevant to 
the prosecution’s duty to give us disclosure of the thirty to forty minutes 
interview. If it were so, then no one would write and give disclosure. We 
are entitled to know what that discussion was about from the officer of the 



Crown conducting it.  If they did not write it they would still have to use 
their recollection of what transpired.  At the outset we kept asking for all 
discussions between the prosecution and its agent and Mr. Chin and or 
his attorney.” 

 
[63] At page 172 KD Knight said: 

“The defence has challenged the circumstances under which Mr. Chin 
became a witness for the prosecution and so this is an integral part of the 
case for the defence…The phrase  “ we did due diligence ” could not 
reasonably be understood by us to be an interview of forty-five minutes 
with Mr. Chin.” 

 
At page 174 he continued: 

 
“The DPP said from the bar that Mr. Chin may have assumed that she 
was taking notes. This is a tacit denial that either herself or her agent took 
notes but it puts into focus Mr. Chin’s credibility as he said she did and 
therefore to challenge his credibility which so far is at the foundation of this 
case, the learned Director is at the foundation of this case because; she 
would have to say Mr. Chin lied when he said I took notes or my agent did. 
This would shape or destroy if not obliterate the credibility of Mr. Chin that 
he lied in the face of the court. It is either he lied or someone else lied. 
Whatever the lie is the case for the accused; will be affected… is this 
pertinent to the case for the defence as has already submitted – it is a 
fundamental issue which is being pursued by the defence, as to the 
circumstances under which Mr. Chin gave evidence for the Crown. Here it 
is that an accused man is being interviewed by the prosecution and 
thereafter becomes a witness for the Crown. An accused man gives a 
statement that is not under caution. What is it that he knew that has not 
been disclosed and who it is that put him in that comfort zone… So this is 
not a trivial matter. This is no light request that has arisen simply out of Mr. 
Chin’s evidence.” 

 
[64] Mr. Atkinson at page 177 said: 

 “Bearing in mind the state of our law, it is trite law that where any reward 
is offered to witness to testify, that is fundamental to a trial in which his 
credibility is the basis of the whole of the prosecution’s case. So, where 
are we, having regard to what Mr. Chin testified to in court and the state of 
the evidence so far, that the DPP interviewed him and took notes. That is 
the only information available. Notwithstanding her office, the DPP cannot 
stand at the Bar and testify or contradict Mr. Chin that no notes were 
taken. What is she going rely on to contradict the evidence and say there 
were no notes?” 

 



At page 81 he continued: 

 “So there are these vague statements which have to be taken in context 

with the DPP’s assertion in response to the submission on the last court 

date that she was going to disclose any notes. Then there is Mr. Chin who 

said she was taking notes.  We have a problem that can only be resolved 

if the DPP testifies… and now we must be left with what Chin says from 

the witness box.  In fact, the Crown’s response did not go far enough- they 

want me to seek disclosure from a witness whose very reliability is in 

question. The law is clear that disclosure must be given before the trial 

starts and however, if during the course things arise, the moment it comes 

to them it must be disclosed.  What makes this so outrageous is that the 

prosecutor cannot say she was not asked. Everybody was present at the 

interview except this defence team. I don’t know how anybody could think 

that this meeting was not to be reduced to writing and furnished to the 

defence within a reasonable time… memories have faded – what is 

needed is for the actual statement / responses / questions so that the 

court can decide whether what happened amounted to a promise. 

 

[65] In letter to the DPP dated 9 January 2009, Mr. Atkinson said: 

“Having regard to all the circumstances… and particularly the course you 
have stated that the Crown will take, it is clear that the issue of any 
bargain, inducement, or interest to serve on behalf of the proposed 
witness Rodney Chin, is going to be material and fundamental to his 
credibility. In accordance with the usual courtesies between counsel, I 
wish to suggest to you that your office should recuse itself…as both 
yourself…may become witnesses to this important issue. This of course, 
would obviate any necessity to move any motion in open court on this 
issue.” 

 

From the above statements, it is manifest that there was no intention to embarrass the 

DPP; the focus was on obtaining evidence. The purpose was to impeach Mr. Chin’s 

credibility. 

 
[66] On the 11 April 2011, at the continuation of Mr. Chin’s cross-examination by Mr. 

Atkinson, Mr. Chin, when asked about the contents of the discussion, he remembered 

that he was asked his name but stated that he did not recall specific details.  He testified 

that many things were discussed including how he met Mr. Spencer but could not recall 

much else. He then altered his original statement by stating that he did not know if the 



DPP was writing. He was also unhelpful as to when he gave the statement to the police.  

His evidence is that it might have been before he spoke with the DPP or the day he 

spoke with her but, he was unsure as to when he signed it, nor could he recall the date. 

 
At that point KD Knight QC made known his intention to call the DPP as a witness.  

 

[67] Mr. Atkinson at page 317 said: 

“…it seems it may be justified, particularly since there is some controversy 
as to what stage Mr. Chin was interviewed. If it was before he gave his 
statement to the police, then it certainly would be part of the investigation 
of the case and certainly could influence the content of the witness’ 
subsequent statement to the police. If it was after and a written statement 
was in existence, there could be some argument that it was case 
preparation. In those circumstances I submit that Ms. Llewellyn is a clear 
witness on facts material to this case, particularly when we are left in a 
situation where the only specifics that the witness can give concerning the 
substance of the interview is that he was asked about his name and how 
he came to meet Mr. Spencer and bearing in mind that it was Ms. 
Llewellyn herself, according to this witness, who was asking the questions. 
In these circumstances I will support Mr. Knight in his application.” 

 
At page 321 Mr. Atkinson said:  

 
“To clear the record – Ms. Smith says in her statement she cannot recall 
with any specificity what happened.  Mr. Bailey said I cannot recall.  Mr. 
Berry said I cannot recall the exact questions and answers.  With regard to 
Mr. Small although he has suggested at the relevant time, he was counsel 
for Mr. Chin and therefore can assert counsel/client privilege.  So really, 
the defence is in a position that we have no alternative but to call Ms. 
Llewellyn.  Mr. Chin cannot recall.  If Mr. Knight had not indicated his 
intention to call the witness, I would.  It is also Ms. Llewellyn who 
questioned the witness.  So she is the best person.” 

 
At Page 324 Mr. Atkinson continued:  

“At the time of subpoenaing Mr. Small we did not know of the meeting with 
Chin/Llewellyn.  What we knew is that something happened that Chin… 
from accused to witness.  We needed to know and we thought it material, 
what was it that caused that transition? We had asked for disclosure and 
felt we were being stonewalled but subsequent to that, we knew that a 
meeting took place.  We know that notwithstanding several statements 
from Chin and the disclosure, this meeting was not disclosed to us, the 
Court of Appeal or Full Court.  One thing no one can dispute is that what 



took place in the meeting is material to this to Chin’s credibility, 
fundamental to fairness in trial.  The interviewer is the only person from 
whom we do not have a statement.  No one else can recall. We need to 
know what the questions were etc.etera so we can put it before the court 
for the finder of fact to decide if there was any inducement etcetera. The 
interviewer is the best witness.” 

 

At pages 329-331 Mr. Atkinson stated: 

 “The evidence is clear that Ms. Llewellyn interviewed Mr. Chin whilst he 
was an accused person in this very matter; there is some evidence that 
this interview took place before Chin wrote a statement, …, and it is 
beyond dispute that subsequent to that interview by Ms. Llewellyn, Mr. 
Chin who had been on $10,000,000.00 bail awaiting trial for nearly one 
year had the charges withdrawn by Ms. Llewellyn and he transitioned to 
being a witness instead of an accused person.  By document, the DPP 
provided this court, sometime between when he was an accused and 
when he became a witness Chin was awarded in the region of 
$300,000,000.00 worth of government contracts. It is without question that 
this interview was concealed from the defence for over a year either 
deliberately or otherwise but despite written requests for information of 
what transpired to cause Chin to change in that fashion and despite 
motions before this court and the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeal 
when the prosecutor took the position that there was nothing to disclose 
and despite the fact that Chin wrote four statements none of which 
mentioned this meeting and despite the fact that senior police officers who 
were at the meeting wrote statements and failed to state that they were at 
this meeting and despite the fact that Chin gave evidence over several 
days and had his evidence adduced by Ms. Llewellyn herself- no mention 
was made by Chin of the meeting and neither was adduced…  and 
despite the fact that he was cross- examined…it was only when Chin was 
being cross- examined by Mr. Spencer’s Attorney… that this interview was 
mentioned for the first time. Because of the lapse of time the witnesses 
present say that they cannot recall and can offer no assistance. It is clear 
that what transpired in this interview is material and relevant to this case. It 
is clear that Ms. Llewellyn has personal knowledge of what happened as 
she asked the questions… whether a person is a witness…  It depends on 
whether they have material information of their own knowledge concerning 
the cause at issue and nothing so far that this court has heard in this case 
could indicate that anything is of more importance than Chin’s credibility. It 
is not that we would wish Ms. Llewellyn to, it is what the justice of the case 
requires and fairness.” 

 
Mr. Atkinson further said at page 347: 

“…this meeting in Mr. Small’s chamber’s where Miss Llewellyn asked Chin 
questions. This took place last year more than a year after the 



commencement of the trial. The court properly made an order for 
disclosure of what happened. We got statements from Smith, Bailey, Berry 
and we heard submissions from Ms. Llewellyn. To date we cannot even 
find out exactly when the meeting took place. To this day we cannot find 
out if anybody took a note. Apart from Mr. Chin, nobody can tell us one 
question or answer that was asked. I challenge anybody to say the ourt 
was in error when it said the substance of the interview was relevant. So 
why is it vexatious to ask questions of the person who asked. The 
statement from the prosecutor and Senior Superintendent is that they 
can’t recall. So we must rush these accused through a trial and pretend it 
never occurred. To ask this witness to decide whether the accused turned 
witness was improperly motivated.” 

 

[68] According to Mr. Chin, he was willing to speak the truth even before he was 

charged. He was not given any undertaking or promise that the case against him would 

be dropped. His sole desire was to tell the truth (page 162).  The defence, however, 

contends that he was induced and calls into question the award of government 

contracts valuing millions awarded to Mr. Chin subsequent to his transformation to 

Crown witness.  The circumstances under which this transformation occurred must be 

vital to the defence. 

 
 

DUTY TO DISCLOSE 

[69] Mr. Chin falls into a special category of witnesses, that is, one with an interest to 

serve.  Apart from protecting himself from prosecution, he stands, if convicted, to lose 

millions in contract from the government.  The question of whether any inducement or 

promise was held out to Mr. Chin is fundamental to the defence.  His motive for 

providing the DPP with the statement and interview which led to his transformation is 

material.  Statements made which can assist the court in determining the witness’ 

reliability or undermine his credibility are material and disclosable.  

 

[70] The statement of the DPP in her letter to Patrick Atkinson QC that, “I indicated 

that I would make no promises but that it was a matter entirely for them to advise their 

client on what he wished to do” is certainly pertinent to the defence’s desire to discover 

what motivated his transformation to ‘star witness’ for the Crown.  Indeed Patrick 

Atkinson QC in his submission to the RM said: 



 

 “…then there is this phrase, “I indicated that I would make no promises.”  
 
 

[71] It is patent that the defence regarded this statement as relevant and would wish 

to explore in cross-examination. It is of importance to Mr. Chin’s credibility as it is his 

evidence that his sole motivation was to speak the truth. He never knew the charges 

had been dropped and there was no promise or undertaking. It is his further evidence 

that ‘the issue of whether the charges would be dropped did not come up”. Also the 

issue of whether he was required to testify did not arise.  “… I did not tell her I was 

willing to testify she did not ask me”.  It is material to Mr. Chin’s credibility to discover 

what ‘promise’ the DPP referred to and who raised the issue of ‘promise.’  In the 

circumstances, the DPP is under a duty to disclose statements made at the interview. In 

ensuring obedience to that duty, the subpoena was issued.  

 
[72] Upon resumption of cross-examination, Mr. Chin stated that the DPP interviewed 

him to see if he was speaking the truth.  It is Mr. Chin’s testimony that after he gave  the 

statement which resulted in his metamorphosis,  he met with the DPP at his attorney’s 

(Mr. Small) office in the presence of his attorneys, Ms. Opal Smith, then Deputy DPP,  

now acting RM, Superintendent Fitz Bailey and Inspector Carl Berry.  He was 

questioned by the DPP for between thirty to forty-five minutes. It is his evidence that he 

thought that Mr. Dale (one of his attorneys) and the DPP were taking notes because as 

he spoke he saw them writing.  

 
[73] After the revelation that the DPP cross-examined him and he saw her writing as 

she did, Mr. Atkinson requested disclosure of the notes.  The DPP stated that she had 

no such notes and that it was the witness’ assumption that she was taking notes but 

there were no such notes.  Her posture was that she could not disclose that which did 

not exist and argued that had notes existed, they would have been her private notes 

and a request for them would have bordered on being out of order.  

 
[74] Applications made by the defence for disclosure were trenchantly resisted by the 

DPP.  When ordered by the Senior Resident Magistrate to provide a written account, 



the DPP asserted that she was unable to fully recall as a result of the passage of time 

(letter of 20 April 2010).   

 

[75] In her submissions to the RM, she said: 

“If there are no notes then I would have to depend on my recollection. I 
don’t believe that I have to indicate that this matter is one of hundreds that 
my office deals with island wide in the course of my duties, who is 
ultimately responsible by section 94 for the prosecution of matters island-
wide…The prosecution believes that by virtue of letter dated 20 April 
2010, that the order has been complied with…In respect of notes taken by 
anyone under the prosecution’s control it is trite law that the prosecution 
cannot disclose what it does not have. If the prosecution does not have 
these notes because they were not taken or have been discarded, we 
cannot produce what we do not have.” 

 
 

[76] In  her affidavit in support of her application for Judicial  Review,  the DPP  

criticized Mr. Atkinson’s cross-examination of Mr. Chin by stating that he failed to 

ascertain the duration of time she was  seen writing and “whether he was actually in a 

position to  clearly see what was being written if anything at all.”  After the application for 

disclosure was made, she indicated to the Magistrate that she had made no notes.  It is 

her evidence that she did not record the details of the interview but may have ‘etched’ 

reminders to herself “as to what areas she needed to cover next” and ‘things’ she 

needed to address in light of Mr. Chin’s responses.  It is her evidence that that is her 

usual mode of operation. It is also her evidence that she is unable to locate the paper 

on which she ‘may have written.’ 

 

[77] Mr. Chin stated that as he spoke he saw her write.  The DPP’s criticism of  Mr. 

Atkinson’s failure to ascertain the duration of time he saw her write and whether he was 

actually in a position to see clearly what was written, if anything at all, appears to be 

impugning Mr. Chin’s reliability and/ or veracity.  Her evidence that she ‘may’ have 

‘etched’ reminders as to what areas she needed to address together with her inability to 

locate the paper on which she ‘may’ have written, is  nebulous.  

 



[78]  In light of the uncertainty of her evidence together with her categorical denial to 

the court that she made notes of the interview, it is not unreasonable that the defence 

would desire to examine her in the face of Mr. Chin’s clear evidence that as she 

questioned him he saw her write.   

 

[79] En passant, it is worthy of note, in light of the DPP’s statement that her office 

deals with hundreds of matters, the casual manner in which ‘etching’ ‘might have been 

made’ and the ‘paper discarded’ begs the question as to why the interview was treated 

so cursorily by her, especially since this is a matter of national interest involving a 

former minister of government as one of the defendants. 

 
[80] The witness did testify that he thought that she and Mr. Dale took notes.  There 

might be uncertainty as to whether notes were taken but his statement that they (Mr. 

Dale and the DPP) wrote was categorical in the face of her uncertain evidence as to 

whether she actually wrote.  The Senior Magistrate could rightly have formed the view 

that because of Mr. Chin’s peculiar status as a witness with an interest to serve, 

fairness required not only an official record of her answers but an opportunity to be 

examined by the defence. 

 

[81] Further there is the issue of whether his statement was taken at the interview or 

whether it was given before. The DPP asserts in her letter to Patrick Atkinson QC, in 

which she purported to make disclosure of the interview between her and Mr. Chin that 

(see page 274): 

“I was already au fait with the nature and content of Mr. Chin’s statement 
from my dialogue with the lawyers and the police and in order to assess 
his credibility I proceeded to have him again outline what was the truth he 
wished to tell. As he spoke I asked him questions relating to the content of 
his statement contents.” 

 
In her letter dated 7 October 2010, she stated that she had not seen Mr. Chin’s 

statement prior to the meeting. She later stated that no statement had been collected 

when she spoke to him. It is also her statement that she spoke to him after he had given 

his statement. 



 
[82] Mr. Chin’s memory became faint as to when his statement was given. He said: 

“Basically, I might have given a statement to the police before I spoke with 
Miss Llewellyn but as to when I signed it. The statement might have been 
the same day I spoke to Miss Llewellyn. I met with the police more than 
once at Mr. Small’s office.” 

 
He was unable to recall the date of the interview with Miss Llewellyn.  He further 

testified that he gave the statement at Mr. Small’s office. He said: 

 

I ‘mightn’t be clear on it but I think it was before I spoke with Miss 
Llewellyn.” 

 
[83] At that juncture the defence felt it necessary to have Miss Llewellyn testify.  

Clearly, the evidence regarding the circumstances under which the statement was taken 

and when it was taken is material.  The statements which emanated from Mr. Chin and 

Miss Llewellyn are material.  Having heard all that was said, including the submissions, 

the learned Resident Magistrate agreed with the defence that it was necessary to hear 

the DPP.   

 
[84] In the DPP’s written submissions against the Senior Resident Magistrate’s order 

for disclosure, she maintained that she categorically stated that she took no notes of the 

interview with Mr. Chin.  She stated that he saw her writing but he cannot say what 

exactly she wrote and whether what she wrote was relative to the case.  

 

[85] The head note of the case of R v Baines and Anor [1908]-10] All ER Rep 328 

states the law: 

“The court has jurisdiction to set aside a subpoena where it is satisfied 
that the process of the court is being used for improper purposes. A 
subpoena will be set aside if the witness cannot give any relevant 
evidence and the process was issued, not to obtain relevant evidence, but 
for some improper purpose. 

 
Per Walton J “This case, however, must not be taken as a precedent for 
establishing  a rule that persons summoned on subpoena can, by simply 
swearing that they can give no relevant evidence, get the subpoena set 
aside.` 

 



Per Walton J “Our decision will in no way interfere with the power of the 
judge at the assizes to make an order for the applicants to attend if 
anything arises at the trial to lead him to think that their attendance is 
necessary…” 

 

[86] The circumstances of the instant case are distinguishable from that of R v 

Baines and Anor. In Baines the Prime Minister and the Home Secretary were at a 

meeting and were seated approximately sixty feet from two doors which were closed. 

The doors measured about four to five feet wide.  Each door had two glass panels, 

which measured approximately one foot in width.  There was, on the prosecution’s 

case, evidence that hundreds of people rushed from the street to the front door.  The 

defendants were charged for causing riot and breach of the peace during a meeting.  

The applicants (Prime Minister and the Home Secretary) were summoned to testify as 

to what they saw and heard.  The men informed the defendants’ solicitors that they 

were unable to see anything that happened in the street from the platform on which they 

sat.    Subpoenas were issued for the men.  The court found that the motive behind the 

issuance of the subpoenas was improper. Bingham J, opined that the men could neither 

have seen nor heard anything which would have been relevant to any issue at the trial.  

 
[87]  Similarly in Senior v Holdsworth [1975] 2 All ER 1009, the plaintiff instituted 

proceedings against the Chief Constable in which he claimed he was assaulted by a 

Police Constable.  One of the plaintiffs issued a summons to a television station 

requiring the production at the trial of all films and videos which were taken when the 

festival broke up, and the equipment to show the video.   The producer had no 

knowledge of the festival and was not authorized to show the film. As a result the 

summons was set aside but another summons was issued for the production of all film 

negatives of the 1974 Festival. The television station showed the films which were 

transmitted on television but appealed against the order to show all the films. The 

English Court of Appeal held that the court had a discretion to set aside the summons 

on the ground that ‘what was sought was irrelevant, oppressive or an abuse of the 

process of the court.’    

 



[88] In the aforementioned cases, the requests to subpoena the witnesses were 

entirely baseless. However in the instant case, sufficient basis has been established for 

requiring the DPP’s testimony. There is ample evidence which could have led the RM to 

her decision to accede to the request of the defence to summon the DPP.  What 

transpired to cause Mr. Chin’s metamorphosis from ‘accused’ to ‘star witness’ is of 

utmost importance. There is a difference in the accounts given by Mr, Chin and the DPP 

in an important area, that is, whether notes were taken of the interview.  

Of relevance is her categorical denial that she took notes, her initial position that any 

note taken by her would have been private and her evidence that she “may have etched 

reminders to herself as to what areas she needed to cover”.           

 

[89] The DPP’s statement that she ‘would make no promise’ juxtaposed to Mr. Chin’s 

evidence that there was no mention or discussion to drop the charges or whether he 

would testify for the prosecution is relevant.  The uncertainty as to when the DPP 

obtained his statement together with the delay between the interview with Mr. Chin and 

the DPP’s decision to call him as a witness are relevant matters which led the Resident 

Magistrate to her decision. There is therefore sufficient basis to require her testimony. 

 
 [90] The  common law duty of fair disclosure by the Crown as enunciated  in the   

English Court of Appeal case of R v Ward 1993 1 WLR 619  is applicable to the instant  

case.  With the advent of Ward, the prosecution is under a ‘stricter regime’ regarding 

disclosure.  At page 642 of Ward, the court enunciated:   

 “…that nondisclosure is a potent source of injustice and even with the 
benefit of hindsight; it will often be difficult to say whether or not a 
disclosed item of evidence might have shifted the balance or opened up a 
new line of defence.” 

 
At page 449 the court continued:  

 “The decision to disclose or not to disclose the statement or other 
material to the defence was and remains a matter for the solicitor or 
counsel.  In cases conducted by the DPP a report, documents and 
statements would be referred to his office without being edited by the force 
solicitors.  Again, it was force policy to disclose to the Director all 
statements and other material taken during the course of the 
investigation.” 



 
[91]  In R v Rasheed 1994 Times Law Reports 288 Lord Steyn, said: 

“In their Lordship’s judgment the duty to disclose extended to any material 
casting doubt upon the reliability of a witness in the proceedings. The 
classic examples of material tending to undermine the credibility of a 
witness were other statements… of the witness…The duty to disclose it  
was a continuing one and failure to disclose it was, therefore, an 
irregularity in the trial…On the issue of the materiality  of the irregularity, 
the positive duty to give fair disclosure  was not contingent upon a request 
for disclosure and it did not neutralize the irregularity to say that the 
information could have been obtained in other ways.” 

 
 

THE SUMMONING OF THE DPP  

[92] The Resident Magistrate is the final arbiter hence it is for her to determine 

credibility.   It is the DPP’s statement that the Senior Resident Magistrate referred to her 

as being disingenuous.  The Magistrate has conduct of the matter. Various letters were 

exchanged and statements would have been made in her presence which she would 

have considered relevant to her deliberations which are of no value if not captured on 

oath.   

 

[93] In the DPP’s submissions against an order for disclosure she made the following 

statements at pages 265-268 of the bundle: 

“If DPP had taken notes, (which she did not) then those notes would be 
her private notations and matters affecting her brief in deciding how to 
exercise her constitutional discretion pursuant to section 94(6) of the 
Constitution of Jamaica.”   

 
At page 268 she said:   

 “The contents of the interview formed part of the preparation of the DPP 
for trial as also due diligence in her decision making process. “  

 
[94] The question can be asked, if the contents of the interview formed part of her 

preparation for trial and the trial is still in progress, would not ‘the contents’ of the 

interview be still relevant; so why discard those notes or etchings when the risk of faded 

memory is real? 

 



[95] The purpose of cross-examination is to ferret out the truth.  It is the Resident 

Magistrate who has had the advantage of seeing and hearing the DPP’s various 

submissions. She has the responsibility of ‘monitoring and assessing’ the importance of 

her evidence at a juncture where “new issues were emerging,’ (for example, the 

discovery of lucrative contracts with the government).  Examination of the DPP might 

possibly seriously undermine the credibility of Mr. Chin.  At this stage, the case ‘is still 

open to take a number of different directions or emphases’ (See Michael George Davis 

and Ors, R v [2000] EWCA Crim 109 (17 July 2000)).  

 

[96] Although language was later resorted to by the defence, which was more strident 

than used in earlier and other later statements, it is no indication that the motive for 

summoning the DPP  is  ‘intended or calculated only to vilify, insult or annoy’ the DPP, 

on the face of it. Rather, it is to ensure that the defendants receive a fair trial. 

 
[97] It is of importance that Mr. Chin was an accused man when she interviewed him. 

Mr. Chin’s evidence is that when he gave the statement he never knew that the case 

against him would have to be withdrawn.  In the DPP’s submissions against disclosure, 

the learned Resident Magistrate stated (page 265 of transcript): 

         “She was at the time making an assessment of Mr. Chin in light of his 
statement to the police. This was with a view to making a determination as 
to whether a nolle prosequi should be entered to discontinue proceedings 
against him or whether she should proceed against him as an accused.” 

 

[98] It is plain that when Mr. Chin was “cross-examined” by the DPP, he was not the 

Crown’s witness, he was an accused man. According to the DPP, she had not yet even 

formed the intent to use him as a witness. The determination would have been made 

after the interview. 

 

[99] At that point, if she had a statement, its contents were not sufficient, she needed 

more to convince her. The defence has a right to know, especially in light of his special 

status, what ‘the more’ was and how it was achieved. In light of the resistance by the 

DPP to disclosure, perhaps ignorantly of the view that the notes were personal, what 

was said at the interview is relevant.  The, Magistrate has formed the view that it has 



become necessary to examine her. It is for the Senior Resident Magistrate to assess 

the evidence and determine the credibility of the parties. 

  
[100] In the DPP’s written submission to the Senior Resident Magistrate resisting 

disclosure of the contents of the interview on the ground of privilege, she cites conduct 

which may affect credibility and whether the witness has been granted immunity from 

prosecution to give evidence, as matters to which disclosure extends.   Mr. Chin has 

been granted immunity from prosecution and matters of credibility have arisen. 

 
[101] The DPP has, by ‘cross-examining’ an accused, descended into the investigatory 

arena. She has removed the separation between prosecutor and investigator.  If the 

DPP were an inspector of police who had ‘cross-examined’ an accused (whilst he was 

still an accused) who gave a “transforming statement’, the request by the defence to 

examine the inspector would not be considered irrelevant but would be viewed as 

necessary in the quest to ferret out the truth especially where there are variances 

between statements made by the officer and this ‘peculiar witness’.  It is unlikely that 

there would be any contention that the officer’s evidence would be relevant.  The DPP’s, 

role in the obtaining of further evidence from Mr. Chin is material. The defence is still in 

the dark as to when, in relation to her ‘cross-examination’ of Mr. Chin, the statement 

was actually taken. 

 

[102] There can be no tenable challenge to the fact that the DPP is obliged to disclose 

not only her interview with Mr. Chin but the contents of the interview. She was also 

under a duty to make a written note of the interview.  At page 643 of Ward the court 

said:   

 
“In terms of quantity the most substantial failures were those of the West 
Yorkshire Police and The Director of Public Prosecution to give 
information about (1) witnesses from whom statements had been taken 
but who were not called to give evidence and (2) police interviews of the 
appellants.” (Emphasis added) 

 
 



[103] In light of the clear statement in Ward, the Crown is obliged to provide the 

defence with all information regarding the interview.  It is entirely the prerogative of the 

Resident Magistrate to assess each witness and determine where the truth lies. It is 

settled law that defendants are entitled to disclosure and the effect of failure to disclose 

has been recognised by the Privy Council.   Indeed in Milton (Audley) v R, a Privy 

Council decision from Jamaica, the prosecution failed to disclose a statement from a 

witness Gayle, which was at variance with his evidence. The Board noted that although 

the defence did not challenge evidence given by witnesses Anderson and Gayle, if the 

statement had been disclosed the defence might have run differently.  The desire to 

examine the DPP in order to have disclosed the contents of the interview by the DPP 

with Mr. Chin is not a mere fishing expedition, it is fundamental to the defendants’ right 

to a fair trial. 

 
[104] Regarding the issue of materiality, in R v Keane 1994 WLR 746, 752, Lord 

Taylor of Gosforth CJ who gave the judgment of the court said: 

 
“As to what documents are “material” we would adopt the test suggested by Jowit 

J in Reg. v Melvin (unreported), 20 December 1993. The judge said: 

“I judge to be material in the realm of disclosure that which can be 
seen on a sensible appraisal by the prosecution: (1) to be relevant 
or possibly relevant to an issue in the case; (2) the prosecution 
proposes to use; (3) to hold out a real (as opposed to fanciful) 
prospect of providing a lead on evidence which goes to (1) or (2).” 
 

“As was pointed out later in that judgment, it is open to the defence to 
indicate to the prosecution, a defence  or an issue they propose to raise 
as to which material in the possession of the prosecution may be of 
assistance, and if that is done the prosecution may need to reconsider 
what should be disclosed.” 

 
[105] The defence indicated by way of several letters and submissions the areas in 

which they required disclosure.  Incrementally some information was provided.  The 

manner in which the information was provided together with the actual information,(for 

example, the DPP told them, ‘she could make no promise’) and the conflict in the 

evidence raise issues pertinent to the case.  Her answers can “provide a lead on 

evidence” which goes to Mr. Chin’s credibility and his motive.  



 

[106] The long process of eking out information (indeed in excess of three years) from 

the DPP, which she has a duty to disclose, has delayed the trial and dulled the 

memories of the other persons who were present.  Examination of the DPP, who herself 

conducted the interview, should serve to speed up the trial.   

 
 
 

FAILURE TO GIVE REASONS 
 

[107] It is Lord Gifford’s submission that the decision of the learned Resident 

Magistrate is flawed because she has given no reasons for it.  She has failed to state on 

what issues she considered the evidence of the DPP could be relevant. Nor did she 

make any determination as to the motive of the defence in issuing the subpoena. 

 

[108] Notwithstanding the RM’s failure to provide lengthy reasons for her refusal to set 

aside the subpoena, the court is not bereft of her reasons.  Her reasons are quite 

evident from  her various rulings,  including her ruling on the application for a permanent  

stay of the proceedings as a result  of the DPP’s failure/refusal to disclose, and 

statements made by her during the trial which are  contained in the   transcript. They 

clearly demonstrate that issues of credibility inter alia were considerations.  

 

[109] On the April 16 2010, the learned Senior Resident Magistrate in her written ruling 

which was entitled ‘Ruling re. Disclosure of notes of or substance of interviews 

conducted by the Director of Public Prosecutions with Rodney Chin’, stated: 
 

“The defence posits that they have taken issue with the credibility of Mr. 
Chin and with the process whereby he stopped being an accused person 
and became the ‘star’ Crown witness. They emphasize that this interview 
was conducted while he was still an accused person for whom a trial date 
had been set (before the nolle prosequi was entered in his favour), and 
have made bold that this action by the DPP is tantamount to prosecutorial 
misconduct. They argue that if disclosure is not made by her, information 
that can be used to challenge Mr. Chin’s credibility will be lost to the 
defence. Mr. Atkinson, … went further to suggest that the charges ought 
to be dismissed against his client if disclosure is not possible, as he would 



not be allowed material to properly meet the case against him and the 
fairness of the proceedings would be impugned. 

 
[110] In open court, the DPP indicated that she did not make any notes during 

the interview and what the witness said is that, “I think she was making 
notes.”  She further stated that the defence ought to have gone further to 
enquire of the witness whether he read what she was writing.  She further 
said that any note she made are her personal/private notes.” 

 
[111] Whatever the exercise may have been the learned Director could only 

have acted as she did in her capacity as Director of Public Prosecutions 
and a Minister of Justice and ultimately an officer of the Court in 
contemplation of a trial.  The upshot of all this is, - how is Mr. Chin’s 
evidence to be tested? Is it enough for the Director to rise and deny 
making any notes against evidence given from the witness box?  The 
defence opines that this cannot be done and the contradiction of Mr. Chin 
must be by evidence.  If this is correct, then what would be the source of 
the information used to challenge Mr. Chin?  The DPP has submitted that 
she made no notes and outlined the purpose of the interview.  To quote 
from her written submissions:’ 
 

“The contents of this interview formed part of the communication between 
the police and the DPP in terms of the preparation of the Director for trial 
as also due diligence in her decision- making process… this interview 
could also be seen in the context of the police also presenting a source of 
information and Mr. Chin’s statement which could have a bearing on the 
path the prosecution could take.” 

 

[112] The DPP went on to say such an occasion is immune from 
disclosure as: 

 

 “It is clear that professional privilege or public interest immunity would 
apply to the notes if they existed or the content of any interview between 
the DPP and Mr. Chin.”  

 
The Learned Resident Magistrate continued:  
 

She did not go on to explain in what regard ‘due diligence’ was being 
conducted or what decision was to be made.  Prima facie there is nothing 
unprofessional in an accused person meeting with the Prosecutor in the 
presence of his attorneys.  However, this meeting seemed multi-purposed 
as it concerned information gathering (the police representing a source of 
information), as well as being connected to an exercise in ‘due diligence in 
her decision-making.’ The Director agrees with Mr. Chin that nothing was 
discussed regarding Mr. Chin giving evidence or the case being 
discontinued against him.  It begs the question then what information was 
gathered in the interview?  The decision to proceed or not to proceed 
against an accused person is constitutionally the province of the DPP and 



review of that decision can only be done in prescribed circumstances for 
example, for improper motive or wrong interpretation of the law and the 
like.  This court is incompetent to entertain such application for want of 
jurisdiction. The application before this court is for disclosure of what 
transpired at the interview with Mr. Chin.  If information was gathered it is 
it to be disclosed?  Public interest immunity is a factor in determining that.   
 
Is the public interest in the detection of crime and the prosecution of 
offenders according to law being vitiated by compliance with this 
application?   

 
What transpired at the interview is in evidence minus the details. Mr. Chin 
said he was subjected to what can only be described as cross-
examination on this statement.  The purpose for proceeding in this matter 
was explained by the DPP in her submission.   If all that transpired was 
questioning the witness on his disclosed statement as in ‘terms of the 
preparation of the Director for trial as also due diligence in her decision-
making process …’ what public policy interest is being impugned that 
warrants immunity? Questions asked and answers given by Mr. Chin on 
his statement may be relevant to the issues in this case whether for the 
defence or the prosecution.  Nothing else was discussed. If the interview 
concerned the decision to proceed or not to proceed against Mr. Chin, 
production of what transpired would offend public interest by potentially 
hampering the DPP in the future by potentially creating a precedent for 
disclosure of her action in the exercise of her constitutional function.  The 
insistence that it was an information gathering exercise on the witness’ 
statement is a completely different matter.   The information was gathered 
in preparation of the case by questioning the witness on his statement.  
Whatever information he gave is discoverable as information in the 
possession of the prosecutor relevant to these proceedings.  Mr. Knight in 
his submission adverted to correspondence ...upon reading the first 
paragraph of the letter of 7th January, it is clear that what was there being 
asked for concerned the exercise by the DPP of her constitutional function 
and is therefore somewhat different from the application before the court 
at this time and as adverted to, is outside the jurisdiction of this court.  It is 
trite law that information in the possession of the prosecutor which 
advances the prosecution’s case and can assist the defence must be 
disclosed on the principle of fairness of a trial, the principle of natural 
justice and the fact that the accused should know the case he is to meet.  
The authorities from other jurisdiction which are persuasive suggest that if 
no note or memorandum in writing was created, then a written account 
should be presented.  In light of the decision that the substance of the 
interview or the notes taken must be disclosed, it is not necessary to deal 
with the question raised by Mr. Atkinson regarding dismissing this matter 
at this juncture on the basis of unfairness.” 

 



[113] The DPP maintained that she made no notes of the interview. The defence 

renewed their application.  

On the 9 November 2010, in her ruling on the application for permanent stay of 

proceedings the Resident Magistrate stated inter alia: 

 

“…after much manoeuvres, disclosure was finally made which was 
affected by lapse of memory with the passage of time by all the persons 
who attended the meeting as well as the introduction of the fact that at the 
time the interview was conducted Mr. Chin’s statement had not yet been 
taken.  Applications in similar terms had been made in this matter before 
the commencement of the trial and repeated several times during the trial, 
culminating in the application in April 20, 2010 and based on material 
revealed by Mr. Chin in evidence.  The complaint is that their cross-
examination had been predicated on the material disclosed to them and 
the assertion that there was nothing else to disclose as well as their 
instructions. 
Loss of information from passage of time, contradicting of witness from the 
bar and submissions, correction/recollection of the existence or non-
existence of witness statement of Mr. Chin at the time of her interview, 
repeated assertions that everything had been disclosed surrounding Chin 
becoming a Crown witness - all of these factors surround and impact any 
assessment of Chin’s evidence in the overall assessment of the case. 

 
The manner in which this situation arose is the kernel of the defence’s 
application. Denial of the existence of information that could advance 
Chin’s credibility or harm it, inability to recall by everybody present at the 
meeting except Chin resulting in loss of information and impossibility of 
having this information presented to the jury’s mind cannot escape 
attention.  

 
However, does it render the trial unfair and its continuation an abuse of 
the process of the court? The submission by the defence in this 
application is very compelling.  The situation in the case has been 
described as having ‘insurmountable obstacle’ for the case for the 
prosecution.  These obstacles, if they exist, will continue to be arguable 
throughout this trial. The discretion must be exercised responsibly and 
judicially.  It is arguable that if the insurmountable obstacles cannot wither 
away, it is pointless to continue the matter.  The prosecution has 
submitted that all difficulties in a trial can be cured by ‘trial process’ and 
therefore the trial should continue.  The early stage of the proceedings, 
(although there is authority to stay permanently proceedings even before 
trial in a proper case), beckons as it is the credibility of one, albeit an 
important, witness whose credibility on an issue, which though important 
to his evidence, is not cemented in the facts in issue.  In addition, 
considerations of the interest of justice propel the court to consider that 



the totality of the Crown’s case could be examined to see crystal clear if 
the trial of these two accused persons has been affected by unfair 
practices by anyone.” 

 
[114] Although at that juncture the Senior Resident Magistrate did not accede to the 

defence’s application to permanently stay the proceedings, she said:  

“I believe the unusual state of affairs in this trial could be difficult to alter 
and the defence could renew its application at other stages of this matter 
so whilst no subpoena has been served on her we are following in the 
tradition where a lawyer who is to be called as a witness is not usually 
subpoenaed unless he is the subject matter of the charge.  This is not so 
here.  Here she is on the subject matter of a complaint and so properly 
she ought to be out of hearing.  At least certainly while Mr. Chin is giving 
evidence.” 

 
The learned Senior Resident Magistrate acceded to the request of the defence and 

invited the DPP to remain out of court.  She said: 

 
“In the peculiar circumstances of this matter and to safeguard the integrity 
of the proceedings, any potential evidence and the fairness of the trial 
Miss Llewellyn is to keep out of hearing for the remainder of Mr. Chin’s 
evidence” 

 
The application was indeed renewed in another form: to have the DPP testify.        

 
[115] Miss Llewellyn resisted the ruling of the learned Senior Resident Magistrate. She 

said among other things: 

“…if there is any sincerity to call me as a witness, then my friend should 
serve me with a subpoena. I would be taking it elsewhere to have it set 
aside…” 

 
Copious submissions were made by KD   Knight QC, Patrick Atkinson QC, Mrs. Hay 

(Senior Deputy Director of Public Prosecution) and the DPP herself. 

 
Having heard those submissions the learned Senior Resident Magistrate said: 
 

“Having listened to the arguments and examined the authorities cited and 
having regard to the peculiar circumstances of this matter, it is the court’s 
ruling that the subpoena will not  be set aside and the usual behaviour 
adopted by subpoenaed witnesses be adopted by Miss Llewellyn”. 

 



[116] Although her ruling was brief, she had regard to the submissions of Counsel 

before her and has clearly accepted the submissions of the defence. The contention 

that the court is without the Learned Senior Resident Magistrate’s reasons, cannot be 

sustained.  The Resident Magistrate has outlined in her earlier rulings the need for 

disclosure and the attendant concerns consequent on the non-disclosure of certain 

information and has now deemed it necessary to have the DPP testify. 

 

 

THE DPP’S ABSENCE FROM THE COURT 

[117] Lord Gifford submits that a subsidiary motive for the subpoena is to embarrass 

and weaken the prosecution by removing the DPP from the role of lead prosecutor for a 

large part of the trial.  According to Lord Gifford, if the subpoena and related order were 

to stand, the fairness of the trial (since fairness is required towards the prosecution as 

well as the defence) would be undermined. The DPP would be forced to relinquish the 

role which she ought to play.   He argues that no compelling reason to force the DPP to 

testify has been advanced.  

 

RULING 
 

[118] The Senior Resident Magistrate is presiding over the matter and therefore has 

had the advantage of not only hearing Mr. Chin, but listening to the various arguments 

and has determined that the DPP’s evidence is necessary.  This is a criminal trial, which 

concerns the liberty of the defendants.   Where there is a possibility of miscarriage of 

justice as a result of non–disclosure, the interest of justice demand that any 

‘inconvenience’ that might   result to the DPP having to testify should not outweigh the 

interests of the accused.  Her evidence is necessary to ensure that there is no 

miscarriage of justice. The matter has unnecessarily spanned a number of years as a 

result of her reluctance to disclose relevant evidence.  Moreover, Mrs. Hay is a Senior 

Deputy DPP and she has been actively participating in the matter if not from the 

inception, for quite some time.  Surely as a Deputy DPP she is capable of carrying on 

the matter for the relatively brief period of the DPP’s absence. 

 



  

EFFECT OF SECTION 94(6) OF THE CONSTITUTION OF JAMAICA 

[119] Section 94(3) (a) of the Constitution of Jamaica confers upon the DPP the power:  

“In any case where he considers it desirable so to do to institute and 
undertake criminal proceedings against any person in respect of any 
offence against the law of Jamaica.” 

 
 Section 94 (6) provides: 

“In the exercise of the powers conferred upon him by” this section the DPP 
shall not be subject to the direction or control of any other person or 
authority. 

 
[120] The Privy Council in the matter of Attorney General of Fiji v Director of Public 

Prosecutions [1983] 2 AC 672, 679 which was followed in Jeewan Mohit v The DPP 

of Mauritius, a decision delivered the 25 April 2006, construed language used in the 

Constitutions of those countries which were identical in both countries to ours, as 

amounting to a “Constitutional guarantee of independence from the direction or control 

of any other person.”  

 
[121] Lord Gifford contends that the independence of the DPP, which the Constitution 

guarantees, would be subverted if the exercise of her powers could be subject to cross-

examination or judicial determination.  He submits that she may not be asked how and 

why she came to exercise her power of discontinuing Mr. Chin’s prosecution. To ask the 

DPP how and why Mr. Chin turned from being accused to Crown witness cannot be 

separated from the obviously impermissible question of how and why she came to 

exercise her power of discontinuing Mr. Chin’s prosecution. The DPP should not be 

liable to answer questions about the circumstances which led to the exercise of her 

power. He urges the court not to allow the DPP to be questioned about the 

circumstances which led to the exercise of her power to discontinue proceedings 

against Mr. Chin. 

 
[122] It is true that the DPP is not ‘an ‘ordinary’ witness. Indeed she rightly enjoys the 

protection of Section 96(4) of the Constitution. However, by assuming the role of 

investigator, she has eroded the division between prosecutor and investigator. By so 



doing, she has opened herself to be examined as an investigator. Whereas it might be 

inappropriate for her to be questioned as to why she exercised her power to discontinue 

the prosecution against Mr. Chin, she certainly can be questioned about the questions 

she asked him, his responses and whatever else that might be relevant in the context of 

the issues presented before the magistrate. 

 
[123] The Privy Council in Jeewan Mohit v The DPP of Mauritius Privy Council 

Appeal No 31 of 2005 recognized that the Mauritian, Barbadian and Guyanese 

provisions were similar to ours, Lord Bingham of Cornhill, who delivered the judgment of 

the court enunciated at page 6 of the decision: 

“Finally, reference should be made to the saving for the jurisdiction of the 
courts contained in section 119 of the Constitution, which has reference to 
section 72(6) already quoted: 

“No provision of this Constitution that any person or authority shall not be 
subject to the direction or control of any other person or authority in the 
exercise of any function under this Constitution shall be construed as 
precluding a court of law from exercising jurisdiction in relation to any 
question, whether that person or authority has performed those functions 
in accordance with this Constitution or any other law or should not perform 
those functions.”  

 
 “Provisions to the same or very similar effect as those quoted were 

included in a number of constitutions of the Commonwealth states.  They 
have been the subject of judicial consideration in Guyana … Barbados, 
Jamaica and Fiji … as well as Mauritius.  While the reasoning in these 
judgments varies, in none (save in Mauritius) has the DPP’s statutory 
power to discontinue proceedings been held to be immune from judicial 
review … 

 
 In Lagesse, above the plaintiff claimed the damages against the DPP for 

malicious prosecution and the question arose whether a plaintiff could, 
through an action in tort or otherwise, in effect ask a court to determine 
whether the DPP had acted in breach of the Constitution or any other law.  
Addressing this issue, the court said:  with reference to section 119 of the 
Constitution quoted above at p 200: 

 
‘Section 119 is not a substantive provision of the Constitution 
which confers, or rather creates, jurisdiction upon or for the 
courts.  It is, in our judgment a clause inserted ex abundanti 
cautela to spell out that the various provisions of the 
Constitution which protect various public officers and 



authorities from other kinds of interference should not be 
taken to mean that the courts are thereby precluded from 
exercising such jurisdiction as is or may be conferred on 
them by the constitution or any other law.’ 

 
[124] “With this observation the Board respectfully and wholly agrees, and it was 

accepted by the parties.” 

 
[125] Lord Gifford’s submission that the DPP cannot be subject to cross-examination 

or judicial determination is in the circumstances unsustainable. Section 94 (6) of the 

Constitution is not a cloak which shields the DPP’s actions and decisions from the 

scrutiny of the court. The section rightly protects her ‘from other kinds of interference’. 

However, the court has the ultimate responsibility of protecting the Constitutional rights 

of persons and of ensuring that the laws of the land are observed by all, including the 

DPP. 

 
[126] Lord Gifford’s fear that improper questions might be put to the DPP should be 

allayed as the Resident Magistrate has the responsibility of ensuring that impermissible 

questions are not asked. However, it would be fundamentally unfair to disallow a 

relevant question which arises because of the DPP’s obliteration of the division between 

the roles as the dilemma would have been of her creation. 

 
[127] The Magistrate is the ultimate judge of where the balance of public interest lies, 

not the DPP.  The law on the issue as enunciated in Ward is settled.   Indeed it has 

been followed in Dowsett v The United Kingdom [2003] ECHR 314 (24 June 

2003)  (citation).  By virtue of the Constitution of Jamaica and of the Charter of 

Fundamental Rights and Freedoms (Constitutional Amendment) Act, 2001,   the 

defendants are entitled to a fair trial. Section 16(5) (d) of the Charter entitles the 

defendants to the right “to examine or have examined witnesses against him.” The 

European Court of Human Rights (Second Section), in the Case of Dowsett v The 

United Kingdom (Application no. 39482/98) delivered on the 24 September 1998.  The 

court stated: 

“In conclusion therefore, the court reiterates the importance that material 
relevant to the defence be placed before the trial judge for ruling on the 



questions of disclosure at the time when it can serve most effectively to 
protect the rights of the defence.” 

 
[128] In Hallett [1986] Crim. LR, 462 Lord Lane CJ, in delivering the judgment of the 

court said: 

 “…if the judge does come to the conclusion that the lack of information as 
to the identity of the informer is going to cause a miscarriage of justice,  
then he is under a duty to admit the evidence. We would respectfully 
agree with that view.” 

 
The aforesaid statement was cited with approval by the English Court of Appeal in 

Peter Clowes, Guy von Cremer, Peter John Naylor and Christopher Newman 

(1992) 95 Cr. App. R 440. 

 

[129] Lord Taylor of Gosforth CJ in R v Keane 1994 1 (WLR) 746 stated that carrying 

out the balancing exercise to determine whether disclosure ought to be made, where 

the prosecution rely on public interest immunity or sensitivity the preservation of the 

public interest: 

 “If the disputed material may prove the defendant’s innocence or avoid a 
miscarriage of justice, then the balance comes down resoundingly in 
favour of disclosing it. If the prosecution is unwilling to disclose in those 
circumstances then the only option is to discontinue.”  

 
 The head notes of Ward at 620 reads: 

 
“If in a criminal case the prosecution wish to claim public interest immunity 
for documents helpful to the defence, the prosecution are in law obliged to 
give notice to the defence of the asserted right to withhold the document 
so that... if necessary, the court can be asked to rule on the legitimacy of 
the prosecution’s claim. If the prosecution, in an exceptional case, are not 
prepared to have the issue determined by a court, the prosecution must 
be abandoned.”  

 
[130] If the DPP is disinclined to disclose relevant information, (particularly that which 

has come about as a result of her ‘cross-examination’ of the witness), she might have 

no choice but to abandon the prosecution.  Such is the pronouncement of the courts in 

Ward and Keane.  

In the instant case, of importance, is that Mr. Chin is a special category witness.  

At page 645 of Ward the court continued:  



“It should be borne in mind, however, that an inflexible approach in these 
circumstances can work an injustice.  For example the witness’s memory 
may have faded when the defence eventually seeks to interview him or he 
may refuse to make any further statement.  The better practice is to allow 
the defence to see such statements unless there is good reasons for not 
doing so … We would adopt the words of Lawton LJ in Reg v Hennessey 
(Timothy) (1978) 68 Cr. App. R 419, 426, where he said that the courts 
must:  

 
“Keep in mind that those who prepare and conduct prosecution owe a duty 
to the courts to ensure that all relevant evidence of help to an accused is 
either led by them or made available to the defence.  We have no reasons 
to think that this duty is neglected; and if ever it should be, the appropriate 
disciplinary bodies can be expected to take action.  The judges for their 
part will ensure that the Crown gets no advantage from neglect of duty on 
the part of the prosecution.” 

 
“That statement reflects the position in 1974, no less than today. We 
would emphasize that “all relevant evidence of help to the accused,” is not 
limited to evidence which will obviously advance the accused case.  It is of 
help to the accused to have all the opportunity of considering all the 
material evidence which the prosecution has gathered, and from which the 
prosecution have made their own selection of evidence to be led.” 
 

[131] The DPP not only failed to disclose the fact of the interview.   She also never saw 

it fit to make a record. Further, other witnesses were present at the interview. With the 

passage of time, her memory and the memories of the other persons present have 

faded. It is possible that examination may jolt her memory. 

 
[132]  Prompt disclosure should have been made to the defendants of the fact of the 

interview. Leading questions and cross-examination are not permissible.  Although the 

Pre-Trial rules in Jamaica are not codified as the English rules, these are standard rules 

of ethics.  

[133] In recognition of the danger of serious miscarriage of justice resulting as a 

consequence of failure to disclose, the development of the law in this area in England 

ensures that interviews are disclosed to the defence as a matter of course. ‘The Pre-

Trial Review: Legal Guidance for Prosecutors on conducting interviews’ requires that a 

note of the interview and that the tapes be made for disclosure purposes. Annex B of 

‘The Pre-Trial Witness Interviews – Guidance’ requires that all interviews be taped and 



in appropriate cases, video recorded. The interviewer is required to confirm that the 

evidence was not discussed with the witness prior to the recording of the interview.  

 
[134] Our criminal justice system is not yet so advanced.  However, the principles 

enunciated in Ward impose the duty on the prosecution to provide the defence with the 

opportunity to be able to consider all ‘material evidence’ which they have gathered. The 

DPP’s interview with Mr. Chin is material. His answers to her questions that led her to 

change his status are relevant.  Moreover the passage of the Criminal Justice (Plea 

Negotiations and Agreements) Act 2005 indicates that we are creeping towards the 

English direction.  

 
[135] The Criminal Justice (Plea Negotiations and Agreements) Act, 2005 is helpful in 

terms of the prevailing ethos regarding disclosure.  Section 11.-(1) of the Act states: 

The Judge or Resident Magistrate shall, before accepting a plea agreement 
make a determination in open court, that- 

 
(a) No improper inducement was offered to encourage him to enter into the 

plea agreement; 
 

(b)   Acceptance of the plea agreement would not be contrary to the interests 

of justice. 

 
[136] Although both Mr. Chin and the DPP have removed the interview from the realm 

of a plea bargain, (Mr. Chin’s testimony is that his only desire was to speak the truth), 

the fact is that after the interview, charges were discontinued against him and nolle 

prosequi entered in respect of two.  The process then could be a ‘de facto’ plea bargain 

or a plea bargain without the ‘bargain’.   

 
[137] Although technically, the interview might not have been a plea bargain, the result 

is the same.   An interview with Mr. Chin, who falls in the category of ‘witnesses with 

interests to serve’, makes it even more important that the contents of the interview 

should be revealed to the defence and to the court. The demand by the defence for 

disclosure of what transpired at the interview is an entitlement. The Resident Magistrate 

is charged with the responsibility of ensuring that the accused persons receive a fair 



trial. In light of the various arguments and statements made to her in court, her decision 

to have the DPP testify is within the pursuit of justice.  

 
[138] In light of the foregoing, regrettably,  I have to differ from my brothers and 

dismiss the application. 

 

 


